United Nations Ac.354/5R 36

&N
\\/‘ )y Fifty-fourth session 17 January 2000
E\S:=274 L English

7 Official Records Original: French

Third Committee

Summary record of the 36th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Monday, 8 November 1999, at 10 a.m.

Chairman:  Mr. GaludKa . ...t e (Czech Republic)

Contents
Agendaitem 116: Human rights questions (continued)

(b) Human rights questions, including alternative approaches for improving the
effective enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms (continued)

(c) Human rights situations and reports of special rapporteurs and representatives
(continued)

(d) Comprehensive implementation of and follow-up to the Vienna Declaration and
Programme of Action (continued)

(e) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (continued)

Thisrecord is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

99-82235 (E)



AJ/C.3/54/SR.36

The meeting was called to order at 10.15 a.m.

Agenda item 116: Human rights questions
(continued)

(b) Human rights questions, including alternative
approaches for improving the effective
enjoyment of human rights and fundamental
freedoms (continued) (A/54/93, A/54/137,
A/54/216, A/54/222 and Add. 1, A/54/303,
A/54/319, A/54/336, A/54/353, A/54/360,
A/54/386, A/54/399 and Add. 1, A/54/401,
A/54/439 and A/54/491)

(c) Human rights situations and reports of special
rapporteurs and representatives (continued)
(A/54/188, A/54/302, A/54/330-S/1999/958,
A/54/331-5/1999/959, A/54/359, A/54/361,
A/54/365, A/54/366, A/54/387,
A/54/396-5/1999/1000, A/54/409, A/54/422,
A/54/440, A/54/465, AI54/466, A/54/467,
A/54/482, A/54/493 and A/54/499; A/C.3/54/3
and A/C.3/54/4)

(d) Comprehensive implementation of and follow-
up to the Vienna Declaration and Programme of
Action (continued)

(e) Report of the United Nations High
Commissioner for Human Rights (continued)
(A/54/36, Suppl. No. 36)

1.  Mr.Hamdoon (Iraq) said that in hisinterim report
(A/54/466), the Special Rapporteur of the Commission on
Human Rightsonthesituation of humanrightsinlragtook
the view that the Iragi Government was responsible for
non-respect of the right to food and health care, without
takinginto account thesanctionsimposed against Irag; the
reports of various non-governmental organizations, and
particularly the most recent report of the United Nations
Children’s Fund (UNICEF), had drawn attention to the
damaging effects of the sanctions.

2.  The report of the second panel established in
implementation of thenoteby the President of the Security
Council dated 30 January 1999 (S/1999/100) to assessthe
current humanitarian situation in Irag, and chaired by
Mr. Amorim, described an increase in juvenile
delinquency, begging and prostitution in Irag, anxiety
about the future and lack of motivation, arising sense of
i sol ation bred by absenceof contact withtheoutsideworld,
and disruption of family life. While the World Health
Organization (WHO) had drawn attention to the extreme
isolation of thelragi scientificcommunity anditsoutdated

expertise, UNICEF had stressed that a whole generation
of Iragiswas disconnected from the rest of the world and,
accordingtotheUnited NationsEducational, Scientificand
Cultural Organization (UNESCO), itwaschildrenbetween
5 and 15 years of age who were the most affected.

3.  TheUNICEF report dated 12 August 1999 affirmed
that the death of 500,000 Iraqi children under the age of
five between 1991 and 1998 could have been avoided if
Iraq had not had to endure the sanctions imposed on it.
Moreover, radiation released from the depleted uranium
weapons used by the United States of America and the
United Kingdom in 1991 had caused the death of over
50,000 children and its effects were continuing to be felt
in subsequent generations.

4.  Manyhumanitarianaid contractshad been suspended
under false pretexts, preventing, for example the import
of high-protein biscuitsand therapeutic milk for children.

5.  Inreporting grave violations of civil and political
rights in Iraq which could not be verified, the Special
Rapporteur wasclearly seekingtojustify hisrequest for the
stationing of human rights monitorsin Irag.

6. The question of missing persons of Kuwaiti
nationality was a matter for the International Committee
of the Red Cross (ICRC) and did not fall within the
mandateof the Special Rapporteur. Theproblemof missing
personswasahumanitarian problem, andits sol ution was
inlrag’ sinterest. Over 1,000 persons had disappearedin
Iragfollowingtheactionsby the United Statesof America
and the United Kingdom. Yet those two countries, which
were committing aggression against Iraq on adaily basis
and had not experienced the disappearance of a single
national in Iragi territory, seemed to have raised the
problem of missing persons for purely political reasons.

7. When the Special Rapporteur expressed regret that
Iraq was not cooperating with the human rights
mechanisms established by the United Nations, he was
ignoring the cooperation offered by the Iragi Government
to the various special rapporteurs in the regular
correspondence it maintained with them. Iraq was
determined to ensure the implementation of the human
rights instruments to which it was a party and, in June
2000, would consider the next report on combatting all
forms of discrimination against women. Iraq rejected the
idea of the stationing of human rights monitors in its
country, however, because that would constitute gross
interferenceinitsinternal affairs.

8. Iragfoundit regrettablethat the Special Rapporteur
was adhering to positions which were far from impartial



A/C.3/54/SR.36

and which undermined the reputation of the Iraqi
Government and recalled that initsresol ution 53/149, the
General Assembly had urged special rapporteurstorespect
the principles of non-selectivity, impartiality and
objectivity. Thedistortion of factsand of thehumanrights
situationinlraqclearlyillustratedtheway inwhichdouble
standards could be applied in order to achieve certain
political objectives.

9.  Mr. Amor (Special Rapporteur of the Commission
on Human Rights on the question of the elimination of all
forms of intolerance and of discrimination based on
religion or belief), introducing hisfifth interim report on
the elimination of all forms of intolerance and of
discriminationbased onreligionor belief (A/54/386), said
that, since drawing up the report to the fifty-fifth session
of the Commission on Human Rights, he had sent 66
communicationsto 49 States, and had receivedrepliesfrom
atotal of 25 States, including 10 after the completion of
thereport. In addition, he had sent 26 communicationsto
19 States after thereport had been compl eted. He stressed
that those communications were not exhaustive and that
the report referred to only afew States.

10. Hehad sent an urgent appeal to Irag concerning the
assassi nation of Ayatollah M ohammad Sadeck al-Sadr and
his two sons. Irag, in its reply, had affirmed its
commitment to guaranteeing the freedom and security of
the national and religious symbols of Iraq's various
communitiesandreligionsand had indicated that it would
transmit the results of the investigation that was under
way.

11. Hehadalsoaddressed anurgent appeal tothelslamic
Republic of Iran about the arrest of 13 members of the
Jewishcommunity, including rabbisandreligiousteachers,
inthecitiesof Shirazandlsfahan. TheGovernmentreplied
that the suspectswere accused of spyingfor Israel and the
United States of America, that they included both
Christians and Muslims and that the investigation and
arrest had taken placefor reasons of national security, not
religious beliefs.

12. Withregardtoinsitu visits, hesaid that hewould be
visiting Turkey in December 1999 and Bangladeshin 2000,
but had yet to receiverepliesto hisrequestsfor permission
to visit Israel and the Russian Federation, among others.
Hisvisit tothe Holy Seein September 1999 had been part
of the process of establishing a dialogue with religious
communities and encouraging inter-religious dialogue as
ameans of preventing intolerance and discrimination.

13. Healsoreported oninitiatives to promote a culture
of tolerance and non-discrimination in the field of

education, particularly at theprimary and secondary levels,
and on the review of national legislation on freedom of
religionandbelief. Thequestionsof racismand defamation
of religions also came within his mandate, taking into
account the guidelines provided by the Commission on
Human Rights.

14. Hebelieved that it would be appropriate to change
thetitle of hismandateto“ Special Rapporteur onfreedom
of religion or belief”. The use of the term “intolerance”
aroused antagonism in some circles and did not help to
promote a dialogue. He noted that the Commission on
Human Rights had decided to consider changing thetitle
at itsfifty-sixth session.

15. Inordertostrengthenspecial proceduresasrequested
by the World Conference on Human Rights, the
independence of special rapporteurs needed fuller
protectionand moreresourcesneededtobemadeavailable
tothem. A further effort shoul d al so be madeto streamline
and coordinate their activities, without, however,
compromising their freedom of action and specific
responsibilities.

16. Increased attention should bepaidto thesituation of
womenwithinthecontext of religion, and aninternational
strategy should be adopted for promoting a human rights
culture.

17. The issue of sects also needed to be examined
dispassionately and impartially, to ensurethat freedom of
religion and belief wasnot diverted fromitsprimary goal.

18. Statesshould mark the twentieth anniversary of the
DeclarationontheElimination of All Formsof Intolerance
and of Discrimination Based on Religion or Belief by
taking stock of initiatives in that area and drawing up a
plan of action, based on dialogue and education, for the
prevention of intolerance and discrimination.

19. Mr.Cordeiro(Angola) saidthat hisdelegationcould
not entirely support thecontent of the Special Rapporteur’ s
report since it had strong reservations as to the accuracy
of some of thereport’ sfinding and thereliability of some
of the sources used in its drafting.

20. Asafull-fledged democracy, Angolawascommitted
to protecting and promoting all the rights of its citizens.
The Angolan Constitution provided for the separation of
State and religion and for respect and protection by the
State of all religious groups and creeds.

21. Angolawas currently a host to dozens of different
religionswith millions of followers, including Catholics,
Protestants, Jehovah’ sWitnessesand Muslims, and places
of worship were protected by law.



AJ/C.3/54/SR.36

22. About 90 per cent of the Angolan population were
Christians, and Christian institutions continued to play a
very important role, especially in the social sphere, from
providing assistance to the most disadvantaged members
of society to contributing actively to the restoration of
peace and to national reconciliation.

23. HisGovernment enjoyed agoodrelationshipwiththe
religiousinstitutionsestablished in Angolaand had never
been accused any of those institutions of violating the
physical integrity or well-being of their members, contrary
to the allegations contained in one of the Special
Rapporteur’ s recent reports.

24. His delegation rejected those allegations and
challenged that they be supported by evidence, and
reiterated the Government’ sattachmenttotheinternational
normsenshrinedinthehumanrightsinstrumentstowhich
Angolawas a signatory.

25. Ms. Mesdoua (Algeria) asked for clarification asto
theproposed changeinthetitleof the Special Rapporteur’ s
mandate, as she did not understand the reasonsfor such a
change. She believed that in a world where religious
intolerance was becoming increasingly widespread and
religious extremism threatened the protection and
promotion of fundamental rights, particularly women’s
rights, the Special Rapporteur’s mandate as currently
worded was especially apt.

26. Mr. Rytovuori (Finland), speaking on behalf of the
European Union, wondered what urgent measures should
betakento combat thereligiousextremismandto promote
religioustol erance described by the Special Rapporteurin
his report. Given the interaction between religious
intolerance and racism, he also wondered what form the
cooperation between the Special Rapporteur and the other
partiesinvolved in the preparatory process for the World
Conference against Racism would take.

27. Mr. Win (Myanmar) said that while, thanks to the
mechanism of special rapporteurs, the international
community had been ableto moreeffectively monitor and,
in some cases, prevent violations of human rights in
different parts of theworld, the principlesand procedures
followed by the various special rapporteurs also revealed
how effectively it contributed to promoting and protecting
human rights. That mechani smmust not beabusedinorder
to further narrow political interests. The Special
Rapporteur should ascertain the credibility and reliability
of his sources of information to ensure that unfounded
allegations did not find their way into reports and
negatively affect a country’s image. In his report
(A/54/386), the Special Rapporteur seemed to imply that

the Government of Myanmar was pursuing a policy of
intol eranceand discrimination against minoritiesandtheir
religious beliefs, which had no basis in reality. The
Government of Myanmar wasfirmly opposed to any act of
religiousintoleranceanddiscriminationand had, inrecent
years, sought to promote harmoniousrel ationsbetweenthe
variousreligions in the country. Indeed, although 90 per
cent of the population were followers of Theravada
Buddhism, theMinistry of ReligiousAffairsfacilitatedthe
pilgrimage to Mecca (Hgjj) of a significant number of
Muslims, as well as the participation of archbishops and
bishops in international religious conferences and
meetings. Members of all faiths sought to respect other
religiousbeliefsand contributeto the harmony whichwas
characteristic of the civilization of Myanmar and which
wasfurthered by the Government. Thelatter had taken all
necessary steps in that regard, including maintaining
continuous contacts with religious leaders, who received
financial and material assistance. Furthermore, any
allegationsof intolerance or persecution could only bethe
work of dissidents abroad acting for political purposes.

28. The allegation of repression of a small Christian
community in the Chin State referred to in the report was
adeliberateexaggerationand misrepresentationof atrivial
misunderstanding over the construction of a place of
worship which had been resolved amicably; it in no way
indicated any widespread manifestation of religious
intolerance or discrimination.

29. Mr. Amor (Special Rapporteur of the Commission
on Human Rights on the elimination of all forms of
religious intolerance and of discrimination based on
religionor belief), replyingtotherepresentativeof Angola,
saidthat thequalitiesexpectedinaspecial rapporteur were
objectivity and honesty. The large amount of information
which a special rapporteur received on all countries led
him neither to judge nor to condemn. Such information
constituted allegations about which heinformed the State
and requested it to confirm or deny the information and
providecomments. Thesourcesof information, whichwere
many and varied, were of differing degrees of credibility.
In the south of Angola, there were few active or credible
non-governmental organizations. Information was thus
sometimes submitted by non-governmental organizations
based in other regions. Although often accurate, such
information did not always supply the required details,
hencetheimportance of obtai ning additional information
from States. Information was collected with the utmost
care.

30. Replyingtotherepresentativeof Algeria, hesaidthat
the terms, which were inappropriate in his view, of his



A/C.3/54/SR.36

initial mandate concerned intol erance and discrimination
ongroundsof religionor belief. Intolerance, whichexisted
everywhere, tendedtobedealt withonadaily basis, which
didnot allow root causesto beaddressed. TheCommission
on Human Rights and the General Assembly had thus
quickly recognized the need to prevent intolerance and
discrimination by stressing dial ogue between and within
religions, with particular emphasison education. Legally,
themandate of the Special Rapporteur thereforedealt with
both the question of intolerance aswell asits prevention.
Becauseof thewordsreligiousintolerancein hismandate,
he had come up agai nst many problemsin communicating
with States, organizations and other groups which, when
approached, thought they were suspected of intolerance.
A change of title, which he had been proposing for three
years, wouldthusgivehismandateamorepositivecast and
take into account its legal reality. He welcomed the fact
that the Commission on Human Rights had undertaken to
discuss theissue at its subsequent session.

31. Respondingtotherepresentativeof Finland, hesaid
that no State or region had a monopoly on extremism; it
existed everywhere and even continued to be on the
increase. He had thus devoted particular attention to the
problem, convincedthat extremismwasaninsultto human
intelligence and to the wisdom of God. Without doubt, it
wasnecessary not only tofight agai nst extremism, but al so
topreventit, particularly through education, which should
make it possible to change attitudes. However, education
sometimes paved theway not only for extremism, but also
for utter obscurantism and the denial of humanrights. He
recalled anideathat hehad proposed to combat extremism,
but which had not been taken up namely that Statesshould
agree on a minimum set of principles and rules of
behaviour concerning extremism. States had not been
asked to adopt a common philosophy or policy, but to
respect certain basic principles, such as refusing to host
extremists guilty of crimes of violence. He was honoured
that the Commission on Human Rights had requested him
to participate actively in preparations for the world
conference on racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia
and related intolerance. The three phenomena of ethnic
intolerance, racism and religious intolerance frequently
converged. Indeed, in some countries, there was a direct
link between religious beliefs, ethnic identity and also,
occasionally, religious affiliation.

32. Replying to the representative of Myanmar, the
Special Rapporteur said that he always took maximum
precautions before publishing an allegation. It was then
incumbent upon the State to make its observations.
Moreover, discrimination could result from awidespread

policy, alaw or ordinary administrative procedures. It was
to be hoped that Myanmar would be more cooperativein
communicating its viewsto him.

33. Ms. Faetanini (San Marino) said that the report of
the Special Rapporteur (A/54/386) dealt with substantive
issues, namely ethical questions. The observations of the
Special Rapporteur thusmadeit possibleto eliminateways
of thinking which gave rise to intolerance and
discrimination. He should provide more information on
preventive action.

34. Mr.Salinas (Chile) saidthat, fortunately, hiscountry
was relatively free of such problems. As the Special
Rapporteur had said, in many regions, numerousreligious
groupswereoften prevented from carrying out their social
and humanitarian work. Thus, not only the right to
freedomof religion, but al so other fundamental rights, such
as the right to development, were being threatened. He
asked the Special Rapporteur to providemoreinformation
on that matter.

35. Mr. Cherif (Tunisia) asked the Special Rapporteur
to explain hisappeal stressing the needto givethe special

rapporteursincreased resourcesand greater independence
so that they could better fulfil their mandates.

36. Mr.Bhattarai (Nepal) saidthat paragraph 27 of the
report of the Special Rapporteur (A/54/386) distorted the
incidentsthat had occurredin November 1998in Rukume,
western Nepal. In reality, the police, faced with
demonstrators who were determined to commit acts of
violence and terrorism and were on the point of attacking
the security forces, had been obliged to open fire, killing
two people. Nepal was a democratic, multi-ethnic and
multilingual country that respected all religions, without
discrimination. Furthermore, the police, who served the
people, did not carry out executions. Lastly, thereference
to the Bharatiya Janata Party, which was an Indian
political party, in the context of Nepal was meaningless
and provided an example of the lack of accuracy in the
preparation of the report. His Government had already
communicateditsreply tothe Office of theUnited Nations
High Commissioner for Human Rights in Geneva and
hoped that the Special Rapporteur would make the
appropriate correctionsto hisfinal report.

37. Mr. Amor (Special Rapporteur of the Commission
on Human Rights on the elimination of all forms of
religious intolerance and of discrimination based on
religion or belief), speaking in rely to the representative
of SanMarino, saidthat preventionshould makeit possible
to changeattitudes, particularly those of children. Several
years previously, he had sent all Statesaquestionnaire on



AJ/C.3/54/SR.36

thecontent of their primary and secondary school curricula
and textbooks; 77 States had replied. In some cases, the
content of thosetextbooksconstituted apaeanto hatred and
intolerance. In many countries the national religion was
presented as absolute truth, ignoring or ridiculing other
religions. That simplistic, narrow-minded distinction
betweengoodandevil, betweenbelieversand non-believers
and between God’ s people and the devil’s, persisted. The
Special Rapporteur had begun initiativeswith the United
NationsEducational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization
(UNESCO) and hoped that they would |ead to the holding
of an international consultative conference on education
in 2001. The second aspect of prevention was dialogue
within and between religions. In cooperation with
UNESCO, an international council on interreligious
dialogue, composed of representativesof variousreligions,
had been established. It was essential to bring an end to
contempt and to ensure that respect and understanding
prevailed, within and between religions, despite their
differences.

38. Inreply to the representative of Chile, he said that
the obstaclesencountered by groupsengaged in social and
humanitarian work were not new. He gave as an example
the case of the Catholic Church, which had long played a
major roleinthefield of thesocial and humanitarianwork.

However, because each religion claimed to possess the
truth, that work could be accompanied by proselytism,
which might constitute an infringement of thefreewill of

others, particularly when carried out among thevery poor.
Inreply totherepresentative of Tunisia, hesaid that there
werecasesof overlapping andlack of coordinationbetween
the mechani sms of the Commission on Human Rightsand
that somemandateshadvirtually noresources. For several

years, he had been calling for the establishment of alegal

and statistical data bank on all States as a means of

monitoring the situation everywhere and ensuring justice
for States, religious groups and victims. However, the
honesty, objectivity and independence of the experts, who
were often misunderstood, were essential. For example, a
special rapporteur must endeavour to maintain the best
possible relationship with States, while refusing to be
associated with any body or to accept any post in any State
whatsoever, including hisown. In passing, hepaid tribute
to his own country, which had never hindered himin the
exercise of his functions. That principle also applied to
non-governmental organizations; a rapporteur or expert
could not become arepresentative of anon-governmental
organization or combine the post of director of such an
organization with his functions as rapporteur. Special
rapporteurs must also be independent of administrative

structures, even that of the Office of the High
Commissioner. The special rapporteurs had specific
mandates, which they carried out with the help of the
Officeof theHigh Commissioner’ slogistical services, but
that necessary relationship must not prevent them from
maintaining their independence, since they were
responsible only to the General Assembly or the
Commission on Human Rights.

39. He took note of the statement made by the
representativeof Nepal andinvitedthat country tobemore
cooperative. Accurateinformationhad been communicated
to the Nepal ese authorities, and he hoped that they would
comment thereon and reply to him.

40. Mr.Simonovié (Croatia) noted with satisfactionthe
work done by the Office of the United Nations High
Commissioner for Human Rights and welcomed the
conclusion of an agreement between his Government and
the Office of the High Commissioner aimed at
strengthening the protection and promotion of human
rightsin Croatia.

41. Inlinewiththedebateonhumanitarianintervention
that was challenging traditional notions of national
sovereignty, there was increasing acceptance of the
principlethat humanrightswereuniversal and of theneed
for international cooperationinthefield of humanrights;
States were accepting various forms of assistance,
monitoring and field presence asasupplement to national
mechanisms.

42. Ontheeve of the new millennium, it was extremely
important to fight both isolationism and the misuse of
human rights by establishing impartial, fair and objective
proceduresin that area.

43. Hisdelegation believed, asthe High Commissioner
had pointed out in her report (A/54/36), that the
international human rights treaties were the sources of
universal, indivisible, interrelated and interdependent
human rights norms and principles.

44. The Commission on Human Rights, the Economic
and Social Council and the General Assembly had
established special proceduresto deal with allegations of
human rights violations. Her delegation supported the
study undertaken by the Office of the High Commissioner
tostrengthen country special proceduresand proposed that
guidelines should be devel oped for the establishment and,
when the time was right, the termination of such
procedures or their replacement by United Nations treaty
bodies or regional monitoring mechanisms. Good
coordinationamongtheUnited Nationsmonitoringbodies



A/C.3/54/SR.36

and the regional monitoring bodies was essential,
especially for small countries.

45. Croatia's policy had always been one of complete
opennesstothevariousmechanismsfor theprotectionand
promotion of humanrights. Sinceachievingindependence,
Croatia had become a party to the six United Nations
human rightstreaties, including the optional protocolsto
the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights.

46. Inresponseto the grave violations of human rights
that had accompanied the aggression perpetrated against
the Republic of Croatia and Bosnia and Herzegovina, a
United Nations Special Rapporteur on the situation of
human rights had been appointed in 1992 and invited to
make recommendations for bringing violationsto an end
and preventing futureviolations. Sincethen, three special
rapporteurs had been appointed, numerous reports had
been issued and several resolutions adopted by the
Commission on Human Rightsand the General Assembly.

47. After cooperating fully with the special rapporteurs
for almost eight years, his Government had yet to receive
acomprehensivereport eval uating thecooperationandthe
progress made, and the implementation of the Special

Rapporteur’ spreviousrecommendations. Furthermore, his
Government was still waiting for the Special Rapporteur
toissuean overview of thesituation of humanrightssince
1991, inaccordancewith paragraph 44 (c) of Commission
on Human Rights resolution 1996/71.

48. Moreover, the report of the Special Rapporteur
(A/54/396) did not indicate clearly that Croatia had
accepted the six core United Nations treaties in the field
of humanrights. It did not mentionthepresenceinCroatia
since 1996 of amonitoring mission of the Organizationfor
Security and Cooperationin Europe(OSCE) or thefact that
Croatia was a member of the Council of Europe and had
ratified the European Convention on Human Rights in
1997. It was also regrettabl e that the report contai ned | ess
information than theregional reports, such asthose of the
Council of Europeand OSCE, andthat it contradicted them
incertain cases. Furthermore, thereturn of thecrisisinthe
Federal Republic of Yugoslaviaclearly demonstrated that
the special rapporteurs had been unableto prevent human
rightsviolations, contrary to what had been envisaged in
1992.

49. Croatiamust still improve the protection of human
rightsinitsterritory and it was seeking the cooperation of
the international community to that end. Currently, it
neededto strengthentheimplementation of internationally
accepted standards. Thedial oguewith the United Nations
treaty-monitoring bodies could lead to the strengthening

of national mechanisms. The international community
could also be involved through such projects as those
implemented by the Office of the United Nations High
Commissioner for Human Rights, the Council of Europe
and the OSCE Office for Democratic Institutions and
Human Rights. M ention must al so be made of the Stability
Pact for South Eastern Europeai med at bringing prosperity
and stability to that part of Europe.

50. The peaceful reintegration of the eastern part of
Croatia, whichhad previously been occupied, throughjoint
actionby theUnited Nationsand the Croatian Government
had been followed by the gradual return of displaced
persons. His Government was implementing its return
programme for all refugees and displaced persons,
irrespective of ethnicity. In order to ensure that that
complex process was successful, Croatia needed
international aid for its efforts to rebuild, revitalize the
economy and clear landmines.

51. Croatia, which was committed to strengthening the
democratic process, was striving to consolidate therul e of
law and to ensure respect for human rights. Conscious of
theimportanceof educationinthat regard, it hadlaunched
anational programmeof humanrightseducation designed
to contribute to the process of stabilization, place the
protection of human rights in the foreground and
emphasize the equality of all.

52. Ms. Rubin (United States of America),” reviewing
the main issues of concerninthe humanrightsfield, said
that in the Sudan, where nearly two million people, most
of them innocent civilians, had perished during sixteen
years of civil war, the Government was impeding the
delivery of emergency humanitarianaidinthesouth of the
country and continued to support a Ugandan rebel group
responsible for the forced enlistment and murder of
thousandsof Ugandan children. Giventhat therecontinued
toberegular reportsof slavery in Sudan, it wasimperative
that the Sudanese Government should useits authority to
put an end to it. Finally, religious freedom was not
respected. Christians and animists continued to be
persecuted, therewerereportsof forced conversionsinthe
army, and Christian leaders were arrested on spurious
charges. Sincethehumanrightssituationinthe Sudanwas
unlikely toimprove solong asthecivil war continued, the
United Statesurgedthe partiesinvolved to negotiatewithin
the framework of the talks held under the auspices of the
Intergovernmental Authority on Development.

" The remainder of the statement by the United States
representative was circulated at the meeting as an informal
document.



AJ/C.3/54/SR.36

53. InNigeria, by contrast, the human rights situation
had improved markedly over the past sixteen months
thanksto the efforts of the transitional Government and,
subsequently, theadministration of President Obasanjo.In
additionto clemency measurestakeninrespect of political
prisonersandexiles, theholding of four roundsof elections
had helped to return the country to the path of democracy,
whiletheindependent presshad continuedto play avibrant
role in civil society. Finally, although the Nigerian
Government was to be applauded for its commitment to
rooting out corruption, it had yet to rescind all the
repressive instruments that remained in force, including
the decree authorizing the authoritiesto arrest and detain
persons without trial or accessto legal counsel.

54. IntheDemocraticRepublicof theCongo, journalists,
staff of non-governmental organizations and opposition
figures continued to be the targets of intimidation. Since
the signing of the Lusaka accordsin the summer of 1999,
nothing had really been done to ensure security and
broaden political participation inthe country, and human
rights abuses continued throughout the territory, both in
theregionscontrolled by the Government andin the areas
held by the rebels.

55. InBurundi, numerouscivilianshad died during the
recent rebel attacks and reprisals by government forces.
Both sides were urged to refrain from any act that would
cause innocent people to suffer.

56. In Iran, despite some progress, the human rights
record left much to bedesired. Abusesof thoserightswere
numerous, including extrajudicial or arbitrary executions,
widespread use of torture and other degrading treatment,
harsh prison conditions, arbitrary arrests and detentions,
lack of due process, and restrictions on freedom of
expression, association, religion and movement. Certain
elementswithin the Government had resorted to violence
tothwart theaspiration of alargeportion of the population
to greater justice and freedom. Ethnic and religious
minorities, such asthe Baha'is, were sufferingincreasing
repression, women faced legal and social discrimination
and vigilante groups were resorting to violence and
intimidation in order to impose their vision of society.

57. Inlrag, freedom of speech, assembly and religion
continued to bedeniedto Iragis, who were prevented from
exercising their political rights. Power continued to be
monopolized by Saddam Hussein and his relatives and
closefriends. Statecontrol wasmaintainedthroughareign
of terror. Peoplehad been executed merely becauseof their
association with an opposition group. The country’s
prisonswere overcrowded, with some holding as many as

fivetimestheir designated capacity. The Shi’ite majority
continued to be persecuted and the authorities had
apparently stepped up their repression in the south of the
country. Thearmy had arrested and executed thousands of
Shi’itesin 1999 and had desecrated Shi’ite mosques and
holy sites. In the province of Amara, the army had caused
grave environmental damage and had indiscriminately
targeted civilians in order to put an end to guerrilla
activities.

58. Human rights monitors and other observers were
restricted from investigating abuses and the Special
Rapporteur onthe humanrightssituationin Iraghad been
denied entry into Iraq for seven years. International relief
personnel wereregularly harassed and intimidated by the
Government and its security forces, and rewards had been
offered for killing them. The facts spoke for themsel ves.
Iragq remained on the agendaof the General Assembly, the
international community remained united in
acknowledging the need for a Special Rapporteur on the
situation of human rights in Irag, while Iraq was still
unwilling to engage in a constructive dialogue with the
United Nationsbodiesfor the protection and promotion of
human rights. Whatever the representative of Iraqsaidin
the Committee was irrelevant; it is what Iraq did in the
region that counted.

59. In Afghanistan, the Taliban's offensive in the
summer of 1999 against the opposition forces had driven
tens of thousands of people from their homes and caused
hundreds of civilian casualties. According to the United
Nations rapporteur on the human rights situation in
Afghanistan, the Afghan people had become hostages,
while externally armed forces sought to rule Afghanistan
without the effective participation or consent of itspeople.
Her delegation called for the respect of the rights of
non-combatants, for the release of non-combatants in
detention and for a full investigation of reported mass
killings.

60. InBurma,thepeoplecontinuedtoliveunderahighly
repressive military regime that had intensified its
restrictions on basic rights such asfreedom of speech and
freedom of association. Although the National L eague of
Democracy was now legally recognized as an opposition
party, itwasfrequently preventedfrom conducting normal
activitiesand, since 1998, many membersof that party had
been arrested or been threatened; such was the case of
Aung San Suu Kyi, the party’s General Secretary, whose
activities were severely constrained. However, there had
been one positive development in 1999 in that the
Government had permitted the International Committee



A/C.3/54/SR.36

of the Red Cross access to prisons and had implemented
some of the ICRC recommendations.

61. ThehumanrightssituationinChinahad deteriorated
since1998. The Government had continued thecrackdown
on the opposition movement that had begunin late 1998.
National and regional leaders of the China Democracy
Party had received harsh sentences for exercising their
internationally recognized right tofreedom of expression,
speech and assembly. The crackdown on the Falun Gong
and its practitioners was also of concern and appeared to
be unwarranted, since the movement appeared to be a
peaceful, non-political and spiritual one. Therestrictions
imposed onreligious practi ce and manifestationsof belief
in China, including Tibet, were deeply troubling. Her
Government had called upon Chinato relax or eliminate
registrationrequirementsfor religiousgroupsandtoal low
all groupstofreely manifest their beliefs. WhileChinahad
undertaken reforms of criminal law procedures, the fact
still remainedthat political andreligiousprisonersdidnot
havethesameprotectionasordinary Chinese, andthat due
process was ignored in political cases. The human rights
situation in areas where there were concentrations of
minority groups, such as Tibet and Xinjiang, was of
particular concern.

62. Thedevastationto East Timor’stownsand villages
as a result of the militia’'s scorched earth policy was
overwhelming.

63. The Government of Cuba continued to repress the
fundamental freedoms of its citizens, including the right
to freedom of speech, assembly, religion and to change
their Government peacefully.

64. Mr. Ka (Senegal) saidthat hisdelegationwelcomed
the quality of the report of the High Commissioner for
Human Rights (A/54/36) which addressed important
issues, including obstacles faced by devel oping countries
which had to face major economic and social challenges.
Having taken note of the different reports on the human
rights situations in a number of countries, he wished to
reiterate his country’s commitment to the principles of
objectivity andimpartiality intheassessment of thehuman
rights situation in Member States. Such rights were
universal andindivisible. Since hisdel egation gave equal
importance to the respect for civil and political rights, as
well asfor economic, social and cultural rights, including
the right to development, it could only hope that the
disparities in the degree of priority accorded to political
rightsover economic and social rightswould gradually be
reduced.

65. His delegation was pleased to note that the High
Commissioner had underscoredinher reporttheindivisible
nature of human rights and the need to promote fruitful
cooperation between humanrightsprogrammesand bodies
and bodies dealing with operational activities for
development. Senegal therefore encouraged the Office of
the High Commissioner and the United Nations
Development Programme (UNDP) to further devel op and
continuetheir cooperationinthespirit of thememorandum
of understanding signedinMarch 1998. Moreover, poverty
eradication was an ethical, moral, social, political and
economic imperative.

66. It must be acknowledged that many political crises
on the African continent were often the result of the lack
of vigorous policies for the protection and promotion of
human rights, and that such crises often cameinthewake
of massive and repeated violations of fundamental rights.
Therefore, the process of democratization, consolidation
of theruleof law and promotion of theindependence of the
judiciary should be pursued and intensified. Particular
emphasis should be put on the strengthening of national
institutionsfor the protection of humanrights. Senegal had
established, in conformity with General Assembly
resolution 48/632, a human rights committee which
submitted a report on the situation of human rights in
Senegal every year.

67. Sinceeducationwasparticularly crucial tocombating
political and religious intolerance and racial hatred and
discrimination, his Government had introduced modules
on human rights and international humanitarian law into
teaching programmes, including in police and army
schools.

68. Senegal hadratifiedalmostall theinternational legal
instruments on human rights and was one of 13 countries
that had ratified the International Convention on the
Protection of the Rightsof All Migrant Workersand Their
Families. It had ratified the Additional Protocol of the
African Charter on Human and People’s Rights on the
establishment of the African Court of Human Rights,
adopted by the Organization of African Unity (OAU) in
1998. Senegal wasthefirst country to ratify the Statute of
the International Criminal Court.

69. Thetask of theinterministerial committeeonhuman
rights and humanitarian law, which was established in
1996, was to see to it that Senegal complied with its
obligations with respect to the protection, defence and
promotion of human rights. In his country, which was a
genuine democracy, an independent body supervised the
organization of local and national elections. An



AJ/C.3/54/SR.36

independent mediator appointed by the President of the
Republic had just submitted hisreport on the situation of
opposition parties and the financing of political parties.

70. His delegation was in favour of establishing early
warning mechanismsfor massivehumanrightsviolations,
irrespective of where they occurred. It welcomed the
adoption, at the fifty-third session of the General
Assembly, of the Declaration on the Rights and
Responsibilities of Individuals, Groups and Organs of
Society to Promote and Protect Universally Recognized
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms.

71. In her report (A/54/36), the United Nations High
Commissioner for Human Rights had rightly pointed out
that the fact that men and women continued to demand
respect for their fundamental rightswasadrivingforcefor
the future. Human rights had become not only one of the
major concerns of international politics, but also an
essential criterion of the successof government action. As
such, they must be translated into concrete action in
everyday politics.

72. Mr. Yamazaki (Japan) noted that, whileindividual
States had the primary responsibility for guaranteeing
humanrights, thepromotionand protection of thoserights
was alegitimate concern of the international community;,
regardless of culture, tradition, political and economic
systemor stageof devel opment. Dial ogue, cooperationand
the clear expression of viewswere practical approachesto
that task and their purpose should not be to level
accusations.

73. Henotedwith satisfactionthat, sincetheConsultative
Group Meeting for Cambodiain February 1999, positive
changeshad beentaking placeinthat country, asreflected
in the amendment to article 51 of the Civil Servants Act,
theproclamati on concerningtheadministration of prisons
and prison procedures and the five-year national plan
against child sexual exploitation. Japan would continueto
helpthoseeffortsby Cambodiaandinvited other members
of the international community to provide similar
assistants. It also believed that the Khmer Rouge |leaders
must be brought to account in accordance with
international standardsof justice, fairnessand dueprocess
of law. It therefore strongly hoped that the Government of
Cambodiaand the United Nationswoul d reach agreement
on a mechanism which fulfilled those criteria.

74. Japan welcomed the agreement between the
Government of Myanmar andthelnternational Committee
of the Red Cross, which had led to visits by the latter to
places of detention in Myanmar; it sincerely hoped that
such cooperationwould continue. It had al so been pleased

10

tolearn that the Government of Myanmar had engaged in
a dialogue with the Chairman of Australia’s National
Human Rights Commission and with the European Union
fact-finding mission. It attached great importance to the
dialogue between the Government of Myanmar and the
National Leaguefor Democracy and thereforeappealedto
both sides to make every effort to improve the current
situation.

75. Thehumanrightsviolationsin East Timor, reported
by the United NationsMissionin East Timor (UNAMET)
and other sources, were mattersof graveconcern. Hehoped
that the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner
for Human Rights and the Indonesian Government would
cooperate in advancing the investigation into the
violations, with a view to bringing those responsible to
account.

76. Recognizing the importance of dialogue and the
formation of partnerships on human rightsin theregion,
his Government continued to host the symposium on
human rights in the Asia-Pacific region. Trafficking in
persons was to be the main theme of the fourth such
symposium, to be held in January 2000, which would be
preceded by aninter-sessional workshopfor thepromotion
and protection of humanrightsinthe Asia-Pacificregion,
organized in cooperation with the Office of the United
Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and
focusing on human rights education.

77. Hehoped that at the current session of the General
Assembly there would befruitful discussions on the right
to devel opment that would contributeto the success of the
efforts of the open-ended working group on the right of
development at its December 1999 meeting in Geneva.
Summarizing his country’ s position on that issue, hesaid
that the subject of theright to devel opment wasthehuman
person and not theindividual State; that right should not
be confused with the right to economic assistance; the
realization of the right to development demanded greater
cooperation between devel oped and devel oping countries,
aswell asastep-by-step approachinwhichtheruleof law,
good governance and basic human needswere prioritized;
and the involvement of economic experts was important.

78. Asinthe past, Japan would continue to be a strong
supporter of the Office of the United Nations High
Commissioner for HumanRights. It trusted that thecurrent
vacancies in management-level posts would be filled
without delay and that the Office would be managed in
accordance with the highest standards of efficiency,
competence and integrity, with respect for the principle of
impartiality.



A/C.3/54/SR.36

79. Mr.Palous(CzechRepublic) saidthat, 10yearsafter
the “Velvet Revolution” which had been welcomed as a
magj or victory inthestrugglefor democracy andrespect for
human rights, his country’s troubles still were not over.

80. Inarecently issued human rightsmemorandum, the
Czech Ministry for Foreign Affairs had stated that the
promotion and protection of human rights was a basic
principleandthusamain priority of Czechforeign policy.
Realizing that human rights violations were the concern
of thewholeinternational community, hisGovernment was
actively engaged in an open and constructive dialogue on
human rights in various international forums and
institutions and understood the importance of effective
cooperation with the world community of democratic
nations, characterized by tolerance and mutual respect.

81. Whiledefendingtheprincipleof theindivisibility of
humanrights, hisGovernment appreciatedtheimportance
of a proper balance between civil, social and economic
rights and was aware that an initiative critical of the
human rightssituationin any part of theworldwould bear
fruit only if there wasatrue political dialogue. It did not,
therefore, actively promoteeconomic sanctionsasameans
of putting pressureon Governmentswhichviolated certain
human rights principles.

82. Hiscountry was well aware that the problem of its
Romaminority wasstill unresolved. Having beencriticized
on that score on a number of occasions, his Government
wished to emphasizethat it had not been inactive and that
itwillingly recognizedthat quiteal ot remainedto bedone.
Henotedthat theRomacommunity faced variousobstacles
in most European countries where it was established.

83. His Government’s programmes and strategies
emphasized cooperationand communication, inthebelief
that the Romaproblem could besolvedif therewasmutual
understanding and goodwill on the part of both the
maj ority popul ation andtheRomacommunity. Tothat end,
it invited constructive criticism aimed at mobilizing the
country’s forces and opening a space for dialogue and
cooperation.

84. Mr. Chowdhury (Bangladesh), emphasizing the
indivisibility and interdependence of all human rights,
recalled that the United Nations High Commissioner for
Human Rights, in her statement to the Committee, had
highlighted the lack of emphasis on economic, social and
cultural rights as opposed to civil and political rights.
Equal emphasis should be placed on both categories of
rights, since widespread poverty and failure to meet
people’s development aspirations stifled political
development and weakened democracy. The right to

development was an overarching right, the achievement
of whichwasdependent onthefulfilment of civil, cultural,
economic, political and social rights and also essential to
their promotion. In 1993, theinternational community had
recognized the right to development as a universal and
inalienable right and had stressed the promotion of
effectiveinternational cooperationwithaviewtoachieving
it. Hewaspleasedto notethat theright to devel opment had
been placed high on the agenda of the Office of the High
Commissioner for Human Rights. He believed that, in
futurereports, that right should bedealt within aseparate
section. While his delegation welcomed the efforts of the
High Commissioner to integrate human rights references
into the Common Country Assessment and into the
guidelinesof the United Nations Devel opment Assistance
Framework, it would liketo see more transparency and to
stressthat the establishment of national indicatorsshould
not overshadow the important international aspect of the
full realization of the right to development nor serve asa
meansof introducing conditionality intermsof multilateral
assistance to developing countries. Noting that the
independent expert had stated in his interim report
(E/CN.4/1999/WG.18/2) that theright to devel opment was
still evolving, his delegation believed that the logical
conclusion of such evolution would be an international
convention on the right to development and that an
evaluationshouldbemadeastotheviability andrelevance
of drafting such a convention.

85. Believing that effective and independent national
mechanismswerethebest saf eguard agai nst humanrights
violations, his Government was in the final stages of
setting up a national human rights commission and
appointing an Ombudsperson through parliamentary
approval. In 1998 Bangladesh had become a party to six
international humanrightsinstruments, andin September
1999it had signedthe Statuteof thelnternational Criminal
Court.

86. States must work together nationally and
internationally to eliminate impunity for human rights
violations, regardless of who the perpetratorsmight be. In
that regard, the priority of the international community
should be to support Governments in building national
capacities to prevent such violations.

87. Human rights education was an important meansto
that end. Bangladeshwascurrently updating curriculaand
preparing teaching material sfor theintroduction of peace
and human rights education in primary and secondary
schools and hoped that it would receive international
support for such efforts, particularly in the form of
technical assistance.

11



AJ/C.3/54/SR.36

88. Mr. Rahmtalla (Sudan) said that his country was
fully convinced of the universality and indivisibility of
human rights and believed that the international
community had a legitimate mandate to evaluate the
human rights situation throughout the world. His
Government had undertaken to establish the rule of law
under ademocratic system open to all citizens, especially
sincetheadoption of anew constitutionin 1998, which had
beenfollowed by aseriesof practical measuresconcerning,
inter alia, theformation of political parties, of whichthere
were now 33. In terms of cooperation with human rights
bodies, in 1999 the Sudan had received the visits of the
Special Rapporteur onthesituation of humanrightsinthe
Sudan, the Special Rapporteur on the elimination of all
forms of religious intolerance, the United Nations
humanitari an assessment mission to the NubaM ountains,
the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for
Human Rights needs assessment mission and the
Secretary-General’s Special Representative on the
protection of children affected by armed conflict. The
Sudan was also cooperating with regional human rights
bodies, in particular the African Commission on Human
Rights. In parallel with those activitiesin the area of the
protection of human rights, the Government had been
seeking a peaceful solution to the problem of southern
Sudan. It had declared ageneral cessation of hostilitiesin
anticipation of adefinitive ceasefire, recognized theright
of self-determination of the southern region and accepted
that rights and duties derived from citizenship, without
discrimination on religious or ethnic grounds. The rebel
movement wasthussolely responsiblefor thecontinuation
of the conflict in southern Sudan and for the resulting
humanrightsviolations, of whichtheprimary victimswere
women and children. His Government again called upon
the international community to put pressure on the rebel
movement to agreeto apeaceful settlement of theconflict.

89. It wasregrettable that certain countries which had
decided to take upon themselves the task of defending
human rightsworl dwide, through specialized organizations
and associations, were viol ating human rights norms and
instruments by committing outrageous acts, such as the
destruction by the United States of a Sudanese
pharmaceutical plant on 20 August 1998. Thedestruction
of the plant was depriving the Sudanese people of their
basic right to health and development. That viol ation was
in addition to the unilateral economic sanctionsimposed
ontheSudan by theUnited States. TheViennaDeclaration
and Programme of Action emphasized that all human
rightswereindivisibleandinterrelated, includingtheright
to devel opment, which must receiveall dueattentionfrom

12

the international community in the context of respect for
international commitments and cooperation. The
resolutions of the World Conference on Human Rights,
emphasized that food aid and economic measures should
not be used asapolitical tool, as some countries had done.

Unilateral economic sanctions had severely undermined
human rightsin many devel oping countries, includingthe
Sudan. Itwastimeto put anendto sel ectivity and partiality

and to the politicization of the issue of human rights.

90. Hisdelegationwasoneof thosethat had rejected the
draft resolution submitted by the European Union on the
guestion of the death penalty (A/C.3/54/L.8). There was
still no international consensus on the question of capital
punishment. Moreover, the promulgation of laws was a
sovereign prerogative of States and brooked no
interference. The cultural and religious diversity of
countries should be respected in order to reinforce the
cultureof understanding and peacewhichwastheprimary
mission of the United Nations. No country in the world
could besaidto befreeof violationsor excessesinthearea
of human rights. Each country should therefore devoteits
efforts to ensuring that its own citizens were able
effectively toenjoy their fundamental rightsandfreedoms.

91. Hisdelegation had been surprisedto hear the United
States representative cite a number of countriesin which
human rights violations were occurring, without
mentioning her own. It reserved the right to reply to the
maliciousallegationsmadeby theUnited Statesdel egation.

92. Mr. Powles (New Zealand) said that, in an
increasingly interdependent world, the universality and
indivisibility of humanrightsweremoreevident than ever.
In 1999, armed conflicts had again placed aheavy burden
ontheUnited Nationssystem, and theHigh Commissioner
for Human Rights was to be commended for having
responded quickly to the emerging humanitarian crises.

93. Those responsible for human rights abuses in East
Timor must be brought to justice and all concerned must
cooperatefully withthe Secretary-General’ sinternational
commission of inquiry. Safe, unrestricted access for
international agenciesand protectionfor bothrefugeesand
those rendering assistance must be provided. Theright of
refugeestoreturnfreely to East Timor must be upheld and
his delegation welcomed the assurances given by the
Government of Indonesiain that regard.

94. His delegation remained deeply concerned about
massive human rights violations in Kosovo, the
displacement of most of the civilian population and the
destruction of much of the province’s housing and
infrastructure. While it was true that the refugees were



A/C.3/54/SR.36

returning to Kosovo and housing and serviceswere being
rehabilitated, the continuing acts of aggression against
Serb and other minoritiesin the province wereareminder
that the cycleof ethnicviolencehad still to bebroken. The
perpetrators of human rights violations must be brought
toaccount, and hisdel egation strongly supported thework
of the International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia.

95. His delegation commended the work of the
International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda. New Zealand
had contributed to the efforts of humanitarian agenciesto
bringrelief tothethousandsof refugeesat risk inthe Great
Lakes region of Africa, where armed conflict and human
rights violations continued.

96. His delegation regretted that there had been no
improvement in the human rights situation in Myanmar:
serious violations of human rights continued to occur,
membersof opposition groupscontinuedtobeharassedand
arbitrarily detained, and significant numbers of people,
particularly members of ethnic minorities, had been
forcibly displaced and subjected to forced labour for
economicprojectsand military operations. Restrictionson
freedoms of association and expression also remained
commonplace. Progress would be impossible until the
Government engaged in agenuine political dialoguewith
the opposition, respected fundamental political freedoms,
made progresson constitutional reformand moved towards
the holding of free elections. His delegation therefore
welcomed the visit to Myanmar by the Special
Representative of the Secretary-General in October 1999.

97. His delegation welcomed the holding of broadly
representative electionsin Cambodiain July 1998, which
had resulted in the formation of anew Government. With
regard to the prosecution of Khmer Rouge responsiblefor
human rightsviolations, it understood and applauded the
Cambodian authorities’ desireto pursuereconciliation as
well asaccountability, and urged them to move quickly to
establish atribunal for that purpose, in line with United
Nations recommendations.

98. While welcoming the growing role of the Islamic
Republic of Iran in regional human rightsinitiatives, his
delegation remained concerned about the treatment of
certain religious minoritiesin that country and urged the
Government to ensure full respect for their rights.

99. His delegation deplored the fact that Iraq was
continuingtorefuseaccesstothe Special Rapporteur of the
Commission on Human Rights and to ignore requests by
United Nationsagenciesfor theadmission of humanrights
monitors. Therewasevidencethat systematic humanrights
violations continued in Irag, including the killing of

political detainees, deaths of prisoners and the forced
removal of thousands of minority Kurds. His delegation
welcomed the expansion of the United Nations
“oil-for-food” programme, but sharedthefrustration of the
Special Rapporteur at the Government’s lack of
cooperation in the implementation of that humanitarian
programme and urged Iraq to comply fully with its
responsibilities, for the benefit of the Iragi people.

100. His delegation noted with concern that the human
rights situation in Afghanistan continued to deteriorate.
Afghan citizens continued to be deprived of basic rights
and freedoms and killings, disappearances, torture and
arbitrary imprisonment persisted. Hisdelegationurgedthe
warring factionsto move towards apeaceful resolution of
their conflictinorder toend suchviolations. In particular,
it deplored the treatment suffered by women and girls.

101. His delegation acknowledged the steps taken by
Chinatowards ratification of the International Covenant
on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rightsand
encouraged China’ scontinuing participationinsubstantive
dialogue with the international community on human
rights issues. However, it remained concerned about
continued reports of violations of international human
rights standards, including freedom of association and
freedom of expression.

102. Hisdelegation was asponsor of the draft resolution
calling for amoratorium on the use of the death penalty,
which it considered to be a violation of the most
fundamental human rights. It was particularly concerned
about the application of the death penalty in disregard of
acceptedinternational standardsand without due process,
for instance, the execution of individuals for crimes
committed as juveniles or while lacking full mental
capacity. It alsoreminded those countrieswhich continued
to use the death penalty of their obligations under the
Vienna Convention on Consular Relations.

103. The recent appeal by the High Commissioner for
Human Rightsfor additional funding for thetreaty bodies
and human rightsmechani smshad brought fundingissues
into relief. Adequate resources were important for the
effective operation of the treaty bodies, and sufficient
funding for that purpose needed to be provided for in the
regular budget. There was also a need to strengthen the
responsiveness and effectiveness of the human rights
mechanisms. To that end, his delegation welcomed the
establishment of an open-ended working group under the
Commission on Human Rights.

13



AJ/C.3/54/SR.36

104. Hisdelegationwel comedthecontinuing devel opment
of national humanrightsinstitutionsaroundtheworldand
thegrowthof regional humanrightsarrangementsandwas
gratified at the results of the fourth annual meeting of the
Asia-PacificForumof National Human RightsInstitutions,
held in Manilain September 1999.

105. His Government would continue to contribute as
actively as possible to efforts to ensure the global
acceptance of human rights standards, the translation of
that acceptanceinto legal protection and the upholding of
that legal protection by States.

106. Mr. Aleman (Ecuador) said that his country
respected the principles that underpinned the legal
structure of international organizations and its own
constitutional system. All the principles enshrined in the
Charter of the United Nations had been incorporated into
the domestic legislation of Ecuador, which had always
preserved and upheld those principlesinitsinternational
action and would continue to do so unreservedly. Two of
those principles, self-determination of peoples and
promotion of respect for human rights, were particularly
noteworthy. For anindependent State, self-determination
meant apeopl e’ sability toadopt theeconomicand political
system of its choosing. For a Non-Self-Governing
Territory, it meant theright toindependenceandtoitsown
government, a right which the administering Power had
an obligation to put into effect in cooperation with the
United Nations. With regard to the promotion of respect
for human rights, it should be recall ed that the Charter of
theUnited Nationsreferredtothequestion of humanrights
initsPreambleandin Articles 1, 13, 55 and 62. A society
existed only by virtue of its people, and every State or
group of States must guarantee respect for the human
personandfor hisor her fundamental rightsand effectively
promotethoserights. Inratifyingthe Charter of theUnited
Nations, a State agreed to limit its action by voluntarily
placingitself underinternational jurisdictioninall matters
covered by that instrument. Asaresult, when South Africa
had claimedthat itsapartheid policy wasaninternal matter
governed solely by the laws of a sovereign State, the
international community had overwhelmingly rejectedthat
interpretation becauseinsigningtheCharter, South Africa
had undertakentorespect and promotefundamental rights
for all without distinction. The international community
had al so rejected the attempts of dictatorsand autocratsto
invoke arguments of sovereignty to justify the most
egregious violations of human rights.

107. It thus followed that the Charter imposed on its
signatoriestheobligation to promoteuniversal respect for
human rights and fundamental freedoms. Collective

14

concern for the protection of human rights was not only
allowed but justified by thefact that the human person had
become the primary subject of international law. In that
regard, his Government wished to reiterate its support for
the Declaration on the Right and Responsibility of
Individuals, Groupsand Organsof Society to Promoteand
Protect Universally Recognized Human Rights and
Fundamental Freedoms, adopted by the General Assembly
in 1998.

108. The Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action
rested on three essential pillars: the Charter of the United
Nations, international human rights instruments and
international law. Hiscountry, in addition to ratifying the
main international and regional instruments relating to
humanrights, had accepted thejurisdiction of thetribunal s
established in accordance with those instruments. Any
citizen of Ecuador who perceived aninfringement of their
rights could appeal to those bodies. In the context of the
Inter-American Court of Human Rights, his country had
always been a staunch defender of human rights and had
never shrunk from recognizing its responsibility in the
isolated cases of violations which had occurred in its
territory.

109. Hisdelegation wished to reiterateits concern at the
reservations made to several international conventions
(especially those relating to children’s rights, the
elimination of all forms of racial discrimination and
discrimination against women), which distorted their
content and limited their application.

110. The World Conference on Human Rights had
requested Statesto report on the progressaccomplishedin
implementing the ViennaProgramme of Action. Asnoted
by the High Commissioner for Human Rights, the
Ecuadorian Government wasworkingin close connection
with the Office of the High Commissioner to organize a
meeting on the promotion and protection of human rights
in Latin America and the Caribbean, which would take
placein Quitofrom 29 November to 1 December 1999, and
which should identify the five main pillars of aregional
strategy, establish a regional framework for cooperation
and indicate how to implement measures at the regional,
subregional and national levels. Ontheinternal level, his
Government was seeking the means to implement
effectively its action plan for human rights.

111. With regard to the organization of the work of the
Third Committee, his delegation emphasized the need to
find effective means to guarantee the publication in a
timely manner of reportson humanrights. However useful
their dissemination onthelnternet might be, it should not



A/C.3/54/SR.36

replacetheir distributioninall theofficial languagesof the
United Nations.

112. In conclusion, he quoted a passage from the
Uruguayan writer Eduardo Galeano emphasizing that,
although the United Nations had proclaimed long lists of
fundamental rights between 1948 and 1976, the vast
majority of humankind had only theright to see, hear and
be silent. In order to catch a glimpse of another possible
world, one could begin to exercise aright that had never
beendeclared, namely theright todream, for theworldwas
also made of dreams that could come true. The United
Nations, if people so wished, could be an effective and
cooperative means of ensuring peace, development and
respect for human rights. It should remain a forum for
seeking solutions to the serious problems affecting
humankind withrepresentativesof different cultureswho,
beyond thosedifferences, should be united by thecommon
aim of fully realizing the goals and principles contained
in the Charter of the United Nations, which was akind of
universal constitution.

113. Ms. Mbugua (United Nations Population Fund
(UNFPA)), speaking on behal f of Dr. Sadik, the Executive
Director of the Fund, said that the Declaration and the
Programme of Action adopted at the World Conferenceon
Human Rights held at Vienna in 1993 had stressed the
universality and indivisibility of humanrights; confirmed
that women’ srightswere an integral part of those rights;
emphasized the importance of a human rights-based
approachto populationand devel opment; highlightedthat
such an approach must focus on meeting the needs and
rights of individual srather than on meeting demographic
targetsal one; andrecognizedthat reproductiverightswere
an essential component of arights-based approach given
thecloselinksbetweenawoman’ sreproductivehealthand
the way she was valued in society.

114. The review of the five-year implementation of the
Programme of Action adopted at the International
Conferenceon Popul ationand Development, heldat Cairo
in 1994, had shown that progress had been made in many
areas. Reproductive rights were now internationally
recognized as crucial both to advancing women’s human
rights and to promoting development, and Governments
and civil society organizations had in recent years
advanced those rights to an unprecedented degree. Five
yearsafter the Conference, it had been possibleto measure
the extent to which that human rights-based approach had
been integrated into population and development
programmes. Practices such as female genital mutilation
had been outlawed in many African countries, adol escent
reproductive health was receiving more attention, poor

rural women were being given greater access to
reproductive health services, and efforts to address the
vulnerability of womenandgirlstothe AlDSepidemichad
been stepped up in many devel oping countries.

115. However, in many other areas critical to the Vienna
and Cairo Programmesof Action, progresstodatewasstill
slow. Women and girls continued to suffer systematic and
wide-scaleviolations of their most basic humanrights, in
particular those rights related to their sexuality and
reproductive health. Nearly one third of all women of
reproductive age did not have access to family planning
and acceptable contraceptive methods. Half a million
women died every year as aresult of pregnancy. Almost
half of all womenwould bevictimsof violenceandinmany
countries, violence agai nst women was not sanctioned by
law. Thereview of theresultsof the Cairo Conference had
shown that women and girlsin devel oping countrieswere
still in need of basic reproductive health information and
services and of protection from violations of their
fundamental human rights.

116. UNFPA had supported national partnersin taking
action to enable women and girls to effectively exercise
their rights. As agreed in Vienna, the reproductive roles
of women and girlsshould not continueto beamajor cause
of discrimination against them. To that end, UNFPA
continueditsunrelenting effortsto eliminateviolenceand
discrimination against women and girlsthrough effortsat
the international, regional and national levels, which
included advocating the integration of women’'s
reproductive rights in the mandate of all human rights
treaty bodies and strengthening collaboration with them;
strengthening policiesandthelegal frameworksto protect
and promote women’s and girls' reproductive rights;
supporting partnerships to monitor violations of those
rights within the context of existing international
instruments; advancing safe motherhood; promoting the
human rights approach to conceptualize gender-based
violence; implementinginitiativesto meet thereproductive
health needs of women and girls in emergency and
post-conflict situations; offering servicesandinformation
to address the reproductive health needs of the young
generation; and protecting the rights of older women, in
particular widows.

The meeting rose at 1.15 p.m.

15



